S. Ct. No. 89924-0



Ct. App., Div. I, No. 681320

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Nina L. Martin, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Donald R. Martin, Russell L. Martin, Thaddeus J. Martin, and Jane Martin (the Martin family) ask this Court to accept review of the published Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this Petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

A copy of the Court of Appeals opinion, filed October 14, 2013, is

in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-25. A copy of the Order Granting

Motion to Publish Opinion, filed January 9, 2014, is in the Appendix at

pages A-26 through A-27.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The applicable limitations period does not begin to run until a claim accrues, and a claim does not normally accrue until the plaintiff discovers all facts giving rise to the claim. In *Orear v. International Paint Co.*, 59 Wn. App. 249, 796 P.2d 759 (1990), *rev. denied*, 116 Wn.2d 1024 (1991), the Court of Appeals held that knowledge of a defendant's identity is necessary for accrual. In the decision below, the court held that the Martin family's claims against a corporate defendant accrued before they discovered its identity as the successor to the company that installed a machine that killed their husband and father. Is the decision below erroneous?
- 2. Once the plaintiff has filed the summons and complaint and served them on one defendant, RCW 4.16.070 tolls the applicable limitations period as to all remaining defendants. In *Sidis v. Brodie Dohrmann, Inc.*, 117 Wn.2d 325, 331, 815 P.2d 781 (1991), this Court stated that tolling under this statute would apply to unnamed or fictitiously named "John Doe" or "ABC Corporation"

defendants "if identified with reasonable particularity." In *Powers* v. W.B. Mobile Services, Inc., 177 Wn. App. 208, 311 P.2d 58 (2013), the Court of Appeals followed the *Sidis* dictum and tolled the limitations period as to a fictitiously named "John Doe" defendant. In the decision below, the court declined to recognize the *Sidis* dictum, and held that the limitations period applicable to the Martin family's claims was not tolled as to the corporate successor of a company named in their original complaint. Is the decision below erroneous?

- 3. A nonparty amendment relates back to the date of the original complaint for purposes of the applicable limitations period as long as it arises out of the same transaction or occurrence described in the complaint. Does an amendment identifying the corporate successor of a company named in the original complaint change the *party* against whom a claim is asserted? Or, does it merely correct a misnomer regarding the *name* of the party against whom the claim is asserted?
- 4. In order for an amendment changing the party against whom a claim is asserted to relate back to the date of the original complaint for purposes of the applicable limitations period, there must be a lack of "inexcusable neglect." In *Perrin v. Stensland*, 158 Wn. App. 185, 201-02, 240 P.3d 1198 (2010), the Court of Appeals equated inexcusable neglect with "a strategic choice rather than a mistake." In the decision below, the court equated inexcusable neglect with a lack of knowledge regarding a series of complex and non-public corporate mergers and acquisitions. Is the decision below erroneous?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background Facts.

On August 13, 2004, Donald Martin was working at a pulp mill in Everett, Washington, where he had been employed for the previous 15 years. A dipping conveyor used to make tissue paper was inadvertently lowered onto Mr. Martin while he was doing his job, performing a standard procedure to clean paper out of a chute located below the conveyor. The conveyor crushed him against the chute and caused his death. Mr. Martin's wife, Nina, and his children Russell, Thaddeus and Jane (collectively the "Martin family"), filed this wrongful death and survival action against those believed to be responsible for his death. CP 3576-85.

The dipping conveyor was installed in 1980-81, and the company responsible for the installation, known as Wright Schuchart Harbor Company ("WSH"), no longer exists as a separate entity. Its assets were sold to General Construction Company ("General Construction") in 1996, and, through a series of mergers occurring both before and after the sale, it has been incorporated into Fletcher Construction Company North America ("FCCNA"). CP 2450-53 & 2792.

In their original complaint, the Martin family named General Construction as a defendant, alleging that it was formerly known and/or conducted business as WSH. CP 3576-85. After they learned of the nonpublic asset sale and mergers involving WSH in the course of discovery and litigation, they amended their complaint to identify FCCNA as a corporate successor in interest to WSH. CP 2402-08. The superior court dismissed the claims against FCCNA on summary judgment, based on the statute of limitations, and the Court of Appeals affirmed.

3

B. Chronology of Events.

For purposes of this Petition, the following chronology of events is

relevant:

1980-81: WSH installs the machinery that later kills Donald Martin. CP 2437-2438 & 2792. At the time, WSH is owned by a company called Wright Schuchart Inc. CP 2438, 2451.

1987: A subsidiary of a large multinational corporation involved in industrial construction, known as Fletcher Challenge, purchases Wright Schuchart Inc. (and thereby, WSH). CP 2438, 2451.

1993: Fletcher Challenge merges several subsidiaries, including WSH, into a company known as Fletcher General. CP 2438. Fletcher General succeeds to the liabilities of WSH and continues to do business in industrial construction. CP 2438 & 2451-52.

1996: General Construction acquires the assets of Fletcher General. CP 2472-2508.¹

2001: What remains of Fletcher General following the asset sale is merged into FCCNA. CP 401.

August 13, 2004: Donald Martin is killed.

June 29, 2007: The Martin family files their original complaint, identifying General Construction and WSH as responsible parties, but not FCCNA. CP 3572-85.

July 5, 2007: The Martin family serves General Construction. CP 398.

July 24, 2007: Unknown to the Martin family, General Construction tenders the defense of the Martin family's claims to Fletcher General. CP 62-63.

November 28, 2007: Long before being identified by the Martin family as a successor to WSH, FCCNA forwards the tender letter

¹ There are actually several companies named "General Construction" or "General Construction Company" in the record. CP 2241-42, 2438, 2451, 2665-66 & 2719-20.

from General Construction to its insurer, acknowledging that it is the successor to WSH. CP 401-02.²

December 11, 2009: General Construction files a motion for summary judgment, indicating that FCCNA is a successor to WSH. CP 2436-49 (esp. CP 2439-40 re: FCCNA).³

January 6, 2010: Shortly after discovering that FCCNA is a successor to WSH, the Martin family amends their complaint to include FCCNA. CP 2409-10.

C. Summary Judgment Proceedings.

FCCNA moved for summary judgment based on the statute of limitations. CP 741-57. The company argued that, since the amendment to the Martin family's complaint identifying it as a successor to WSH did not occur until more than three years after Donald Martin's death, the relevant limitations period had expired. CP 742. The company further argued that the amendment did not relate back to the date of the original complaint for statute of limitations purposes. CP 743-44.

In connection with its motion, FCCNA did not disclose that General Construction had tendered defense of the Martin family's claims (without the knowledge of the Martin family) within less than three years after Donald Martin's death. Instead, FCCNA stated "[t]here is no evidence in the record that FCCNA received notice of this claim by

² The letters from General Construction to Fletcher General, CP 62-63, and from FCCNA to its insurer, CP 401-02, are reproduced in the Appendix, at A-28 to A-31.

³ The Martin family's claims against General Construction have been dismissed and are not the subject of this review.

August 13, 2007, within the 3-year statute of limitations." CP 743.

In response to FCCNA's motion, the Martin family contended that their claim against FCCNA did not accrue until they discovered its identity, that the statute of limitations was tolled under RCW 4.16.170 upon service of the summons and complaint on the other defendants, and that it was not really a new party in light of the mergers going back to WSH. They also argued that the amendment related back to the date of their original complaint. The superior court rejected these arguments, and granted FCCNA's motion. CP 133-35.

After the superior court granted FCCNA's motion, the Martin family learned of General Construction's tender of defense. As it turns out, the tender letter was sent via fax and Federal Express on July 24, 2007—less than three years after Donald Martin's death. CP 62-63. On a motion for reconsideration, the Martin family highlighted this newly discovered evidence. CP 50-58. The superior court considered this evidence, but denied the motion. CP 46-49. The Court of Appeals subsequently affirmed.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review is warranted where a decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Here, the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with three other

decisions of the Court of Appeals, regarding accrual of the Martin family's claim, tolling of the applicable limitations period, and application of the statute of limitations to amendments to their complaint. Any one of these conflicts would be sufficient to justify granting review.

A. The decision below conflicts with Orear v. International Paint Co., which holds that actual or constructive knowledge of a defendant's identity is necessary for a cause of action against that defendant to accrue.

The applicable limitations period does not begin to run until a claim accrues, and a claim does not normally accrue until the plaintiff discovers or should have discovered all facts giving rise to the claim. *See Orear v. International Paint Co.*, 59 Wn. App. 249, 796 P.2d 759 (1990), *rev. denied*, 116 Wn. 2d 1024 (1991). In *Orear*, the Court of Appeals held that knowledge of a defendant's identity is necessary for the plaintiff's cause of action against that defendant to accrue. *Id.*, 59 Wn. App. at 253-57.

Here, the Martin family was unaware of the identity of FCCNA as the successor to WSH until the month before amending its complaint. Under the accrual principles delineated in *Orear*, the amendment occurred within the applicable limitations period. However, the Court of Appeals declined to apply *Orear*, attempting to distinguish it on grounds that it "was a products liability case where the connection between the plaintiff's latent injury and the allegedly defective product was 'difficult to trace.'" Appendix, at A-13.⁴

The fact that *Orear* involved a product liability claim does not distinguish it from this case. *Orear* applied its holding both under the general personal injury statute of limitations and the product liability statute of limitations.⁵ The court phrased its holding in terms that are not confined to the product liability context.⁶ The court relied on non-product liability cases within⁷ and outside of Washington⁸ to support its holding.

⁴ The Court of Appeals is simply wrong when it states that the Martin family could have identified FCCNA as a successor to WSH as a matter of public record. Appendix, at A-14. None of the records referenced by the court refer to WSH, let alone connect the dots between WSH and FCCNA. *See* CP 722-27 (1976 articles of incorporation of "Wright Schuchart, Inc.," containing no reference to WSH); CP 729 (1993 certificate of amendment changing name of Wright Schuchart, Inc. to "Fletcher General, Inc.," containing no reference to WSH); CP 731 (2001 articles of merger, merging Fletcher General, Inc., into FCCNA, containing no reference to WSH). In its appellate briefing, FCCNA also pointed to a 1993 newspaper article and an undated internet website printout to establish constructive knowledge of the relationship between WSH and FCCNA. *See* FCCNA Resp. Br., at 7. The newspaper and the website both refer to WSH and entities with "Fletcher" in the name, but neither mentions FCCNA. CP 733-34 (newspaper article); CP 736-37 (website); *see also* Martin Reply Br., at 40-41 (discussing same).

⁵ See Orear, 59 Wn. App. at 252 & nn.1-2 (quoting RCW 4.16.080(2) & 7.72.060); *id.* at 257 (concluding "the statutes of limitations applicable to Orear's cause of action against Seaport did not begin to run until he knew or with reasonable diligence should have known that Seaport may have been a responsible party"). It appears that the general personal injury statute of limitations was applicable because at least some of the relevant events occurred before the effective date of the Washington Product Liability Act.

⁶ See Orear, at 255 (stating "[a]lthough no Washington court has explicitly decided whether knowledge or imputed knowledge of a particular defendant's identity is necessary for the plaintiff's cause of action against that defendant to accrue, we hold that such knowledge is necessary, absent countervailing statutory language").

⁷ See Orear, at 253-54 (discussing Ruth v. Dight, 75 Wn. 2d 660, 453, P.2d 531 (1969) (medical malpractice); Ohler v. Tacoma Gen. Hosp., 92 Wn.2d 507, 598 P.2d 1358 (1970) (medical malpractice and product liability)).

⁸ See Orear, at 256-57 (citing Spitler v. Dean, 436 N.W.2d 308 (Wis. 1989) (assault and battery); Meyers v. Larreategui, 509 N.E.2d 971 (Ohio App. 1986) (medical

Significantly, *Orear* specifically disapproved of non-product liability cases that declined to base accrual upon discovery of the defendant's identity.⁹ In any event, in this case the Martin family has alleged product liability claims against FCCNA. CP 2402-08 (1st amended compl., esp. ¶¶ 3.4-3.7); CP 616-24 (2d amended compl., esp. ¶¶ 3.7-3.10).

The fact that the identity of the defendant who manufactured the allegedly defective product in *Orear* was "difficult to trace" does not distinguish it from this case either. The plaintiff in *Orear* was fully aware of what caused his injury (exposure to epoxy paints and solvents at work) and when he was injured (between 1980 and 1985), but the passage of time obscured the identity of the company that manufactured and/or sold the product that caused his injury. *See* 59 Wn. App. at 250-52. In an analogous way, the passage of time and a series of complex and non-public mergers and acquisitions obscured the identity of FCCNA as the successor to the company that manufactured and sold the product that

malpractice); Foster v. Harris, 633 S.W.2d 304 (Tenn. 1982) (medical malpractice); Adams v. Oregon St. Police, 611 P.2d 1153 (Or. 1980) (auto accident); Mullinax v. McElhenney, 817 F.2d 711 (11th Cir. 1987) (civil rights); Royal Indem. Co. v. Petrozzino, 598 F.2d 816 (3rd Cir. 1979) (conversion); Autocephalous Greek-Orthodox Church v. Goldberg & Feldman Fine Arts Inc., 717 F. Supp. 1374 (S.D. Ind. 1989) (conversion); O'Keeffe v. Snyder, 416 A.2d 862 (N.J. 1980) (conversion)).

⁹ See Orear, at 256 n.4 (disapproving Smith v. Sinai Hosp., 394 N.W.2d 82 (Mich. App. 1986) (medical malpractice); Guebard v. Jabaay, 381 N.E.2d 1164 (III. App. 1978) (same)).

caused Donald Martin's injury. The reason why the identity of the defendant is difficult to trace should not be material.¹⁰

This Court should grant review to resolve the conflict in the Court of Appeals regarding whether knowledge of the identity of the defendant is necessary for accrual of a claim.

B. The decision below conflicts with *Powers v. W.B. Mobile Services, Inc.*, which holds that service on one defendant tolls the applicable limitations period as to unnamed defendants identified in the complaint with reasonable particularity.

Assuming that a claim has accrued, the applicable limitations period stops running when an action has been commenced. RCW 4.16.070. Filing the summons and complaint with the court tolls the limitations period for 90 days to accomplish service. *Id.* Service on one defendant within that time frame effectively commences the action and tolls the limitations period beyond 90 days as to all remaining defendants. *Sidis v. Brodie Dohrmann, Inc.*, 117 Wn.2d 325, 329-30, 815 P.2d 781 (1991). This rule gives plaintiffs in multi-defendant actions extra protection from the harsh effects of the statute of limitations, and avoids the unfairness that would result from requiring them to serve all defendants within the limitations period. *Id.*, 117 Wn.2d at 330. The Court

¹⁰ See Allyn v. Boe, 87 Wn. App. 722, 736-37, 943 P.2d 364 (1997) (applying Orear to timber trespass case where defendant denied cutting down trees), *rev. denied*, 134 Wn.2d 1020 (1998); *Iwai v. State*, 76 Wn. App. 308, 312, 884 P.2d 936 (1994) (applying Orear to premises liability case, but finding constructive notice of identity of lessee of property based on public record), *aff'd*, 129 Wn.2d 84, 915 P.2d 1089 (1996).

applied this rule with respect to named defendants in *Sidis*, and stated that the same rule would also apply to unnamed or fictitiously named "John Doe" or "ABC Corporation" defendants "if identified with reasonable particularity." 117 Wn.2d at 331.

The Martin family argued that naming a corporate defendant (Wright Schuchart Harbor Company) that has been merged into another (FCCNA) should satisfy the requirement to identify the successor corporation with reasonable particularity and thereby obtain the benefit of the *Sidis* tolling rule. *See* Martin App. Br., at 32-34; Martin Reply Br., at 42-43. Under applicable corporate law, the successor corporation has all the liabilities of its predecessors. *See* RCW 23B.11.060(1)(c). Under the circumstances of the case, naming Wright Schuchart Harbor Company as a defendant in the complaint prompted one of the other defendants to notify FCCNA of its successor liability (albeit without the knowledge of the Martin family). CP 62-63, 401-02.

Division I of the Court of Appeals rejected the Martin family's argument and declined to follow the *Sidis* dictum regarding tolling as to unnamed defendants, stating:

No court in Washington court has explicitly stated that the <u>Sidis</u> dictum is law or recognized the statute of limitations as being tolled as to a defendant who is neither named in the complaint nor served within the limitations period.

Appendix, at A-18. However, two days after the court issued its decision, Division II followed the *Sidis* dictum and held that service upon a named defendant tolled the statute of limitations as to a fictitiously named "John Doe" defendant. *See Powers v. W.B. Mobile Services, Inc.*, 177 Wn. App. 208, 311 P.3d 58 (2013).¹¹

This Court should grant review to resolve the conflict in the Court of Appeals regarding whether the *Sidis* dictum should be followed, and to clarify the circumstances under which the statute of limitations is tolled as to an unnamed defendant.

C. The decision below conflicts with *Perrin v. Stensland*, which holds that a party amendment relates back unless the original failure to name the party was the result of a strategic choice as opposed to a mistake.

Assuming the Martin family's claims against FCCNA had accrued,

and also assuming that the statute of limitations was not tolled, the Martin family's amendment to their complaint relates back to the date of their original filing for purposes of the statute of limitations under CR 15(c). The rule provides:

Whenever the claim or defense asserted in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction, or

¹¹ See also Bresina v. Ace Paving Co., 89 Wn. App. 277, 281-82, 948 P.2d 870 (1997) (assuming "a plaintiff can toll the period for suing an unnamed defendant by filing and serving a named defendant—if, but only if, the plaintiff identifies the unnamed defendant with 'reasonable particularity'" in reliance on Sidis), rev. denied, 135 Wn.2d 1010 (1998); Iwai, 76 Wn. App. at 312 (seeming to follow the Sidis dictum, but finding it inapplicable).

occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleading, the amendment relates back to the date of the original pleading. An amendment changing the party against whom a claim is asserted relates back if the foregoing provision is satisfied and, within the period provided by law for commencing the action against him, the party to be brought in by amendment (1) has received such notice of the institution of the action that he will not be prejudiced in maintaining his defense on the merits, and (2) knew or should have known that, but for a mistake concerning the identity of the proper party, the action would have been brought against him.

In addition to notice of the claim within the limitations period (subsection 1 of the rule) and actual or constructive knowledge that the party was mistakenly omitted (subsection 2), case law imposes an additional requirement based upon a lack of "inexcusable neglect" for amendments changing the party against whom a claim is asserted. *See Perrin v. Stensland*, 158 Wn. App. 185, 197-202, 240 P.3d 1189 (2010).¹²

Here, it cannot be disputed that FCCNA had notice of the Martin family's complaint within the limitations period, even if their claim against the company had accrued prior to discovery and was not tolled

¹² An amendment identifying the successor to a corporation named in the original complaint should not be considered a change of the party against whom a claim is asserted within the meaning of CR 15(c). *See DeSantis v. Angelo Merlino & Sons, Inc.,* 71 Wn. 2d 222, 222-25, 427 P.2d 728 (1967) (holding amendment correcting name of corporate defendant erroneously identified as a proprietorship related back for purposes of the statute of limitations under the predecessor rule to CR 15(c), based on the "identity of interest" between the principals of the alleged proprietorship and the corporate defendant); *see also Bailey v. Innovative Mgmt. & Inv., Inc.,* 890 S.W.2d 648, 651 (Mo. 1995) (holding amendment identifying successor corporation related back under requirements for a non-party amendment); *Mitchell v. CFC Financial LLC,* 230 F.R.D. 548 (E.D. Wis. 2005) (similar).

after filing and service on the other defendants. CP 62-63 & 401-402. This satisfies the notice requirement of CR 15(c)(1).

Likewise, based on the identification of its predecessor, WSH, in the original complaint and the tender of defense, it cannot be disputed that FCCNA had at least constructive knowledge that it was mistakenly omitted from the original complaint. This satisfies the mistake requirement of CR 15(c)(2).¹³

With respect to the final requirement for relation back, inexcusable neglect is limited to cases where the failure to name a defendant is likely the result of "a strategic choice rather than a mistake." *Perrin*, 158 Wn. App. at 201-02. Thus, the court in *Perrin* held that a plaintiff who failed to name the estate of a deceased defendant did not act with inexcusable neglect because he did not know that the decedent was, in fact, dead, even though he had received notice of the death in the return of service and interrogatory answers. *See id.* at 190.

As in *Perrin*, the failure to identify FCCNA as the corporate successor to WSH in the original complaint filed by the Martin family in this case was not the result of a strategic choice. They simply did not

¹³ The Court of Appeals below incorrectly suggests there was no knowledge of the mistake because the company that installed the machine that killed Donald Martin may have been Wright Schuchart Harbor *Joint Venture* rather than Wright Schuchart Harbor *Company*. This suggestion is incorrect, and it is addressed at length, with record citations, in the Martin family's reply brief. *See* Martin Reply Br., at 35-37.

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