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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. The Court of Appeals correctly applied the three-year. 
statute of limitations to preclude Martin's claims. 

Actions for personal injury in Washington are subject to a three-

year statute of limitations. RCW 4.16.080(2). Here, Donald Martin died 

on August 13, 2004. Accordingly, his family's wrongful death claims 

expired on August 13, 2007. However, Martin did not obtain leave from 

the trial court to add FCCNA as a defendant until January 15, 2010, nor 

did the order contain language allowing the amended complaint to relate 

back to its original filing. (CP 2409-1 0) The Court of Appeals correctly 

held that "the statute of limitations bars the Martins' claims against 

FCCNA." Martin v. Dematic, 315 P.3d at 1138. 

B. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the 
"discovery rule" does not apply; the decision is factually 
inapposite to Orear. 

Martin contends that the Martin decision conflicts with Orear v. 

Inter'l Paint Co., 59 Wn. App. 249, 796 P.2d 759 (1990), rev. denied, 116 

Wn.2d 1024 (1991). However, Orear is factually inapposite. 

Orear was premised on a products liability claim "where the 

connection between the plaintiffs latent injury and the allegedly defective 

product was 'difficult to trace."' Martin, 325 P.2d at 1134 (quoting Orear, 

59 Wn. App. at 256). Unlike Orear, Mr. Martin did not sustain a latent 
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injury, and the connection between his fatal injury and the allegedly 

defective product was clear. 

Orear diligently tried to identify the product manufacturer by 

asking for the information through interrogatories to the party that actually 

possessed the products in a parallel administrative law proceeding. 

However, that case and all discovery was essentially stayed for two years. 

Orear, 59 Wn. App. 250-51. Here, FCCNA's identity as a successor was a 

matter of public record when Martin filed the lawsuit on June 29, 2007. 

Defendant General Construction asserted a Third-Party Complaint against 

FCCNA on October 16, 2007. Rather than investigate further, Martin 

waited until2010 to add FCCNA. 

In Martin, the Court of Appeals correctly relied on the Supreme 

Court's holding in In re Estates of Hibbard, 118 Wn.2d 737, 749-50, 826 

P .2d 690 (1992). The Supreme Court clarified that the discovery rule 

applies only to claims "in which the plaintiffs could not have immediately 

known of their injuries due to professional malpractice, occupational 

diseases, self-reporting or concealment of the information by the 

defendant" and to "claims in which plaintiffs could not immediately know 

of the cause of their injuries." Martin, 315 P.3d at 1134. The Court of 

Appeals observed that when Washington. courts have applied the 
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discovery rule, "the plaintiff lacked the means or ability to ascertain that a 

legal cause of action accrued." Martin, 315 P.3d at 1134. 

In the trial and appellate court, and now here, Martin contends that 

"a series of complex and non-public mergers and acquisitions obscured the 

identity of FCCNA as the successor to the company that manufactured and 

sold" the TM #5 or its component parts. (See Petition at 9) 

This contention is belied by documents in the record which 

identified FCCNA as a successor through public records. The record 

contains articles of incorporation of Wright Schuchart, Inc., dated May 27, 

1976 (CP 722-27); articles of amendment changing the name from Wright 

Schuchart, Inc. to Fletcher General, Inc., dated March 1, 1993 (CP 729); 

and the articles of merger of Fletcher General, Inc. into FCCNA, dated 

March 29, 2001 (CP 731). 

As late as November 23, 2010, General Construction's website 

explained Wright Schuchart's corporate history. (CP 736-37; November 

23, 2010 is the date the Declaration was signed and to which the printout 

was attached as an exhibit.) A detailed article was published in The 

Seattle Times in 1993 that explained the connection between the various 

Wright Schuchart and Fletcher entities. (CP 733-34) The Court of 

Appeals correctly declined to apply the discovery rule because Martin was 
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on inquiry notice that FCCNA was a successor.6 This decision does not 

conflict with Orear, and is factually closer to In re Estates of Hibbard. 

Discretionary review should be denied. 

C. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with 
Powers v. W.B. Mobile because the defendant, unlike 
here, was identified with "reasonable particularity," 
which tolled the statute of limitations. 

Martin asserts that the Martin decision, decided on October 14, 

2013 by Division I conflicts with Powers v. W.B. Mobile Services, 177 

Wn. App. 208, 311 P.3d 58, decided on October 15, 2013 by Division II. 

(See Petition at 10-12) Martin and Powers are easily reconcilable. In 

Powers, the plaintiffs named a "John Doe Construction Company," and 

alleged that it built the ramp on which the injury occurred. The Court of 

Appeals held that this was sufficiently "particular" to toll the statute of 

limitations while plaintiffs discerned the real identify of John Doe 

Construction Company. Here, Martin never identified, named, or 

described FCCNA-with "reasonable particularity"-or otherwise in the 

6 Martin opines that the Court of Appeals "is simply wrong" and that 
FCCNA's identify was not a matter of public record.(See Petition at 8 n.4) 
To the extent that Martin is literally referring to a purported absence of the 
initials "WSH" Martin is incorrect. General Construction's website (as of 
November 23, 2010) explicitly states that Wright Schuchart Harbor, Co. 
(WSH) was the industrial division of WSI (Wright Schuchart, Inc.); in 
1987, Fletcher Challenge acquired the Wright Schuchart companies; and 
General and WSH were combined into one company under the name 
Fletcher General. (CP 736-37) 
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initial complaint. There is no conflict; discretionary review should be 

denied. 

Likewise, the Martin Court correctly interpreted and applied Sidis 

v. Brodie/Dohrmann, Inc., 117 Wn.2d 325, 815 P.2d 781 (1991), including 

its dictum, holding that RCW 4.16.170 did not toll the statute of 

limitations against FCCNA since: (a) FCCNA was an unnamed defendant; 

and (b) FCCNA was never identified-much less with "reasonable 

particularity" until six years after the injury. 

The Martin Court reiterated that Sidis "did not concern unnamed 

defendants," but the dictum noted that "'in some cases, if identified with 

reasonable particularity, 'John Doe' defendants may be appropriately 

'named' for purposes of RCW 4.16.170."' Martin, 315 P.3d at 1134 

(quoting Sidis, 117 Wn.2d at 3 31 ). 

Relying on the corporate merger statute (RCW 23B.11.060), 

Martin advances the argument that naming a corporate defendant (General 

Construction, Inc. dba/fka Wright Schuchart Harbor) who has merged into 

another entity (FCCNA) should satisfy the requirement of identifying the 

successor corporation with reasonable particularity to toll the statute of 

limitations. (See Petition at 11). 

However, the merger statute, RCW 23B.11.060(1)(d), allows a 

plaintiff to continue a lawsuit filed and served against a defunct entity that 
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was merged into a surviving corporation, provided that the lawsuit was 

pending at the time of the merger: 

( 1) When merger takes effect: 

(d) A proceeding pending against any corporation party to 
the merger may be continued as if the merger did not occur 
or the surviving corporation may be substituted in the 
proceeding for the corporation whose existence ceased; 

RCW 23B.11.060(1)(d) (emphasis added). 

The application of this statute does not revive Martin's action. The 

2007 lawsuit was not "pending" when any merger took effect. The most 

recent entity merger took effect in 2001 when Fletcher General merged 

with FCCNA. (CP 731) Martin filed suit six years after the merger took 

effect. Consequently, their lawsuit was not pending at the time the merger 

took effect. The accident itself had not even occurred at the time of the last 

merger, therefore RCW 23B.11.060 does not apply. 

The Court of Appeals similarly held that Martin cited "no authority 

demonstrating that identifying a defunct corporation well after the statute 

of limitations expired, and long after a merger took place, constitutes 

'reasonable particularity."' Martin, 315 P.3d at 1135. 

D. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the relation 
back doctrine did not apply because the CR 15(c) 
requirements were not met. 
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CR 15(c) states that "[w]henever the claim or defense asserted in 

the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence 

set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleading, the 

amendment relates back to the date of the original pleading." 

Additionally, the burden of proof is on the party seeking to have an 

amendment relate back to the original action. Teller v. APM Terminals 

Pacific, Ltd., 134 Wn. App. 696, 705, 142 P.3d 179 (2006). However, 

"when an amended complaint adds or substitutes a new party, the 

amended complaint relates back to the date of the original complaint ifthe 

party seeking to amend proves that it has satisfied three conditions." 

Martin, 315 P.3d at 1136 (emphasis added) (citing Segaline v. Dep't of 

Labor & Indus., 169 Wn.2d 467,476-77, 238 P.3d 1107 (2010)). 

The conditions are: (1) the new party received notice of the 

institution of the action so that he or she will not be prejudiced in making 

a defense on the merits; (2) the new party knew or should have known that 

but for a mistake concerning the proper party's identity, the plaintiff 

would have brought the action against it; and (3) the plaintiffs delay in 

adding the new party was not due to inexcusable neglect. Segaline, 169 

Wn.2d at 477. The Supreme Court explained that "[a]dding a new party 

requires a showing that it was not due to 'inexcusable neglect' because 
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amendment of a complaint is not intended to serve as a mechanism to 

circumvent or extend the statute of limitations." Id. at 477 n.9. 

"Inexcusable neglect exists when no reason for the initial failure to 

name the party appears in the record." Id. at 169 Wn.2d at 477. 

Inexcusable neglect also "includes delay due to a 'conscious decision, 

strategic or tactic.'" Id. 

First, Martin contends that FCCNA had "notice" of the 2007 

lawsuit based on General Construction's tender of defense to Fletcher 

General. However, Martin only raised this argument in a motion for 

reconsideration wherein the tender letter was unauthenticated. (CP 59-63) 

Moreover, notice to FCCNA was never notice to the Joint Venture, since it 

never merged with FCCNA. 

Second, Martin fails to present any evidence that FCCNA knew or 

should have known that but for a mistake, it would have been named in 

the initial complaint. Both the trial court and Court of Appeals were 

persuaded that Wright Schuchart Harbor Joint Venture, whose assets and 

liabilities never merged with any Fletcher entity, performed the work at 

issue. Martin, 315 P.3d at 1137. Moreover, FCCNA filed a certificate of 

dissolution in 2007 (CP 2861-62), so it had no reason to know that it 

should have been named in the initial complaint or that it might be liable 

to Martin. 
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Third, even if Martin met the first two conditions for relation back, 

Martin fails to demonstrate "excusable neglect." Martin argues that the 

Martin decision (finding inexcusable neglect) conflicts with Perrin v. 

Stensland, 158 Wn. App. 185, 240 P.3d 1189 (2010) (fmding excusable 

neglect). (See Petition at 14-15) Both are Division One cases, however, 

Perrin is readily distinguishable. 

In Perrin, the plaintiff named the deceased driver and wife in the 

complaint, rather than the driver's estate because he neglected to realize 

that the driver had died. Id. at 190-91. The court determined that service 

on the wife, who was on the same auto policy as her deceased husband, 

was sufficient notice and was not prejudicial to the estate. Id. at 194-94. 

Similarly, the estate knew that but for a mistake, the plaintiff would have 

asserted a claim against it. Id. Further, there was no evidence that Perrin 

made a strategic choice to avoid naming the estate. Id. at 202. 

The element of "inexcusable neglect" is well established in 

Washington. Here, Martin "provided no evidence of actions that they took 

to determine the correct parties before the statute of limitations expired or 

what information any investigation revealed." Martin, 315 P .3d at 113 7. 

The Supreme Court has consistently found inexcusable neglect when the 

party seeking to amend did not know the additional party's identity, but 

could have discovered it from public records. Haberman v. Wash. Pub. 
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Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 174-75,744 P.2d 1032, 750 P.2d 254 

(1987) appeal dismissed sub nom. Am. Express Travel Related Servs. Co. 

v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys., 488 U.S. 805(1988) (holding it was no 

excuse where omitted parties' identity was available from a variety of 

public sources); Tellinghuisen v. King County Council, 103 Wn.2d 221, 

224, 691 P.2d 575 (1984) (holding it was no excuse where omitted parties' 

identity was a matter of public record); S. Hollywood Hills Citizens Ass'n 

v. King County, 101 Wn.2d 68, 77-78, 677 P.2d 114 (1984) (holding that 

"inexcusable neglect exists when no reason for initial failure to name the 

party appears in the record"); Teller v. APM Terminals Pac., 134 Wn. 

App. 696, 706-07, 142 P.3d 179 (2006) ("If the parties are apparent, or are 

ascertainable upon reasonable investigation, the failure to name them will 

be inexcusable.") 

Here, (1) FCCNA's identity was a matter of public record; the 

relationship among the entities was published in a newspaper; published 

on Defendant General Construction's website at least until November 

2010; and available from the Secretary of State; and (2) General 

Construction identified FCCNA in its Answer and Third-Party Complaint 

in 2007. Martin never offered an explanation for a three-year delay in 

adding FCCNA as a party. The Martin Court correctly distinguished 
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Perrin and ruled that Martin's claims did not relate back to the initial 

complaint. . Discretionary review should be denied. . 

V. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, FCCNA respectfully requests that the 

Supreme Court deny Martin's Petition for Discretionary Review.